CONFIDENTIAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

DEC 02 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Charleston County

J. C. Buddy Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LAMAR SEQUAN BROWN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000725

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether admission of evidence gleaned from a warrantless search of the contents of appellant's code-locked cell phone violated the Fourth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2012, a Charleston County grand jury indicted appellant Lamar Sequan Brown for first degree burglary. R 395. On March 6, 2013, appellant was tried before the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr. and a jury. R. 1. Kelly Ann Flynn and Chad Simpson of the Ninth Circuit Solicitor's Office represented the State. R 2. Victoria Anderson and Lori Proctor represented appellant. R. 2. The jury convicted appellant. R. 372, ll. 14 – 18. Judge Nicholson sentenced appellant to eighteen years' imprisonment. R. 387, ll. 17 – 20. On March 14, 2013, appellant filed a motion for a new trial. R. 390. On March 22, 2013, Judge Nicholson denied the motion without a hearing. R. 393. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts of this case are simple. On December 22, 2011, the resident of a condominium returned from an evening on the town to find his apartment burglarized. R. 102, l. 24 – 106, l. 18. His bedroom window was broken. R. 104, ll. 18 – 20. On the floor of his bedroom he found an unfamiliar cell phone. R. 104, l. 11 – 105, l. 11. When the police arrived, he gave the cell phone to them. R. 105, ll. 18 – 19. The police did not find fingerprints or any other physical evidence at the scene. R. 143, l. 22 – 146, l. 18. The police admitted the cell phone was “the only connection to whoever may or may not have been in that apartment.” R. 39, ll. 1 – 3.

Detective Jordan Lester was assigned the case. R. 33, l. 24 – 34, l. 1. Five days after the burglary, Detective Lester opened the phone and guessed the code (1-2-3-4) to unlock its contents. R. 38, ll. 19 – 21. R. 34, ll. 13 – 18. Detective Lester did not get a search warrant before examining the data contained in the cell phone. R. 35, ll. 14 – 16.

Using the information in the phone, Detective Lester developed appellant Lamar Sequan Brown (“Brown”) as a suspect. R. 34, l. 13 – 35, l. 19. R. 37, l. 23 – 38, l. 4. Detective Lester candidly admitted that without searching the phone’s data, he would not have been able to determine its owner. R. 39, ll. 17 – 23. Another officer interviewed Brown who admitted the phone was his. R. 189, ll. 18 – 22. Brown told the police he lost the phone the day after the burglary. R. 182, ll. 18 – 25. He denied committing the robbery. R. 183, ll. 9 – 25.

ARGUMENT

Admission of evidence gleaned from a warrantless search of the contents of appellant's code-locked cell phone violated the Fourth Amendment and the South Carolina Constitution.

The police needed a warrant to search Brown's phone. Searches without a warrant are *per se* unreasonable under the Fourth Amendment unless some exception applies. Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347, 357 (1967). No exception applies, nor did the State argue that any exception applied. Since police did not obtain a warrant, evidence obtained from the search of the phone should be suppressed.

The State only argued that Brown lost any expectation of privacy in the phone because it was abandoned. R. 23, l. 15 – 30, l. 6. Judge Nicholson held that Brown had an expectation of privacy in the phone because of his privacy code. R. 89, ll. 17 – 21. However, the trial judge ultimately held that Brown lost his any constitutional protections in the phone because it “was either lost or abandoned.”¹ R. 89, l. 17 – 90, l. 5.

The categorization of the phone as lost or abandoned property makes no difference to this case. Once the phone came into the possession of the police, it became seized property. This case does not present the situation of a responsible citizen giving police a lost phone for the purpose of identifying its owner. Even in such a situation, it does not necessarily follow that the owner of the phone gives up all expectations of privacy in the phone. See People v. Schutter, 249 P.3d 1123; 1125-26 (Colo. 2011)

¹ Brown renewed his pretrial suppression motion when the phone was entered into evidence, when Detective Lester testified about his search of the phone's data, and again in his motion for a new trial. R. 124, ll. 6 – 21. R. 237, l. 10 – 238, l. 3. R. 390.

(holding that owner of phone left behind at gas station maintained an expectation of privacy and upholding suppression of warrantless search of phone's contents).

By placing a password on his phone, Brown maintained his expectation of privacy, even if it were lost, abandoned, or stolen. One of the primary reasons for placing a password on a phone is to prevent anyone but the owner from accessing its contents. A person with a password-protected phone would likely hope that any unauthorized person coming into possession of the phone would be unable to learn anything about its owner. Many reasonable people who have their phones lost or stolen would prefer to never recover the phone rather than have unknown persons access a device that contains a wealth of sensitive personal information. Hoping for the phone's destruction is more likely in this day when the contents are increasingly backed up to a computer elsewhere, such as a cloud. State v. Granville, ___ S.W.3d ___ 2014 WL 714730, *2 (Tex. Crim. App. Feb. 26, 2014). It is not the device itself that a person wants to keep private—it is the data on the phone. The device is merely a key to unlock the content, which is sensitive and personal. A phone protected with a password should—at a minimum—receive the same protection as a sealed letter. Ex parte Jackson, 96 U.S. 727, 733 (1878). The Fourth Amendment protects people, not places. Katz, 389 U.S. at 351. Nothing in this case shows that Brown intentionally abdicated his privacy interest in his personal data merely because he lost his phone.

Even in the case of a simple physical container lawfully seized by police, a warrant is required. United States v. Chadwick, 433 U.S. 1 (1977) (overruled on grounds related to the automobile exception to the warrant requirement by California v. Acevedo, 500 U.S. 565 (1991)). Chadwick is particularly instructive in this case. Amtrak officials

saw a man load a 200-pound padlocked footlocker on a train in San Diego. Chadwick at 3. The footlocker was leaking talcum powder, a substance used to camouflage the scent of marijuana. Id. When the train arrived in Boston, federal agents watched men retrieve the footlocker and sent a drug dog, who signaled to the agents that contraband was present without alerting the men. Id. at 3-4. The agents watched the men place the footlocker in the trunk of a car, but before the trunk could be closed, arrested them. Id. at 4.

The agents seized the footlocker and transported it and the men (in separate cars) to a federal building for questioning. Id. at 4-5. An hour and a half after the arrest, the agents opened the footlocker and found marijuana. Id. The agents did not obtain a warrant before opening the footlocker. Id.

The United States Supreme Court held that a warrant was required before the government could open the footlocker. Id. at 11. The Court held, “There being no exigency, it was unreasonable for the Government to conduct this search without the safeguards a judicial warrant provides.” Id. Chadwick emphasized that the ruling was based on the fact that the police had seized the footlocker. “Once the federal agents had seized it at the railroad station and safely transferred it to the Boston Federal Building under their exclusive control, there was not the slightest danger that the footlocker or its contents could have been removed before a valid search warrant could be obtained.” Id. at 13. The principle that the police need a warrant before searching closed containers seized from an automobile has been recognized by South Carolina. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 91, 736 S.E.2d 263, 267 (2012).

The Chadwick rule regarding seized, locked containers applies to this case. At the time the police took possession of the phone, regardless of its legal status of lost, abandoned, or any other status, it became seized property just like the footlocker. The password on the phone served the same function as the footlocker's padlock. No exigency required Detective Lester—five days after the phone's seizure—to inspect its contents. Therefore, the police were required to obtain a warrant. Since they did not, the search was illegal and all of the evidence flowing from this search should be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471 (1963). The State admitted at the suppression hearing, "This entire case arises from this phone. We're not disputing that." R. 32, ll. 9 – 11.

Indeed, cell phones, because of the "almost unlimited amount of private information" they contain should be given even greater protection than a simple locked container like in Chadwick. See Granville at *4 (discussing the "enormous" potential for invasion of privacy and embarrassment inherent in modern cell phones); United States v. Wurie, 728 F.3d 1, 13-14 (1st Cir. 2013) (recognizing that the "most personal 'papers' and 'effects'" protected by the Fourth Amendment are now stored in cell phones); State v. Smith, 920 N.E.2d 949, 955-56 (Ohio 2009) (giving cell phones greater protection than containers and requiring a warrant even when a phone is seized during a search incident to arrest). Because South Carolina's constitution contains an express right of privacy, this Court should adopt an interpretation maximizing citizens' privacy interests in their

cell phones.² “The South Carolina Constitution, with an express right to privacy provision included in the article prohibiting unreasonable searches and seizures, favors an interpretation offering a higher level of privacy protection than the Fourth Amendment.” State v. Forrester, 343 S.C. 637, 645, 541 S.E.2d 837, 841 (2001).

In Granville, the Texas Court of Criminal Appeals held invalid a warrantless search of a cell phone seized from an arrestee and placed into a jail property room. Granville, at *7. The Texas court recognized the extreme intrusiveness of a search of a cell phone, stating that “Searching a person’s cell phone is like searching his home desk, computer, bank vault, and medicine cabinet all at once.” Id. at *6. The phone searched in Granville did not even have a password, but the court nevertheless held police needed a warrant. Id. at *1. Brown had an even greater expectation of privacy than the defendant in Granville because Brown locked his phone with a password. Therefore, the warrantless search was illegal.

The State may argue, as the solicitor did below, that the illegal search was corrected because the police subsequently obtained a warrant. Indeed, without much analysis, the trial court found the subsequent warrant was valid if the first search was valid. R. 32, ll. 1 – 8. In looking at the face of the warrant, it is clear that it is invalid. R. 399. The warrant is not for searching the phone. It is for obtaining records. One only need look at the description of what is to be searched to see that the warrant was directed at the cell phone provider. R. 399. By its own terms, the warrant did not authorize the police to search the phone. R. 399.

² Brown argued the application of the South Carolina Constitution to the trial court. R. 47, ll. 7 – 17.

Furthermore, the information in the warrant's description of property includes the cell phone number, which was only obtained when the phone was illegally searched without a warrant.