STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000725

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

LAMAR SEQUAN BROWN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SALLEY W. ELLIOTT
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No: 1871

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street
Charleston, SC 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Did the trial court properly decline to suppress evidence obtained from a warrantless search of Appellant's abandoned cell phone when a search warrant was not required because the Fourth Amendment does not apply to abandoned property found at the scene of the burglary; nevertheless, the information was obtained from an independent source pursuant to a lawful search warrant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 2012, Appellant was indicted for First-Degree Burglary (2012-GS-10-7545). He was tried before a jury on March 6-8, 2013, with the Honorable J.C. Nicholson, Jr., presiding. [R. 1.] On March 8, the jury returned a verdict of guilty, and Appellant was sentenced to 18 years in prison. [R. 372, 387.] On March 14, 2013, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial, which was denied without a hearing on March 22, 2013. [R. 390-393].

Appellant filed and served Notice of Appeal. Thereafter, Appellant's brief was filed and served. This brief of respondent follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 22, 2011, Richard Poole returned to the condominium he shared with two other roommates to open Christmas presents with his girlfriend. [R. 101-103]. When he came home, he heard a strange phone ringing in his bedroom. [R. 103; 114]. After it rang several times, Poole got up and investigated the bedroom. He discovered that his window had been smashed, his television was gone, all of the drawers had been pulled out and searched, and three laptops were missing. [R. 104; 106; 155]. Poole also found an older red T-Mobile phone lying on the bedroom floor. [R. 105]. No one knew who the phone belonged to. [R. 104]

When the police arrived fifteen minutes later, Poole showed them the phone.¹ [R. 105; 123]. No other evidence was found at the scene of the crime. [R. 38; 143-147; 158-159; 167]. The phone was taken to the police department, where it was held until December 28, 2011, when Detective Jordan Lester opened the cell phone without a warrant. [R. 34; 123-125, 235-237]. The phone was password protected, but unlocked when Lester typed in "1234." [R. 34; 289; 307] After guessing the password, Lester noted that the background picture on the phone was of a black male with dreadlocks. [Id.; 343] He accessed the contacts list and identified a number that belonged to the owner's grandmother. [R. 34; 238]. After collecting these two pieces of information, Lester closed the phone and entered Grandma's number into the Accurant² system. After locating her driver's license, he then started comparing pictures of her relatives in the Accurant system until he located a match to the background photo on the cell phone. [R. 34-36; 238-239]. Lester determined that the phone belonged to Appellant. [R. 34-

¹ No fingerprints were taken from the phone because it had been contaminated by Poole and his girlfriend's initial investigation. [R. 129; 166]

² Accurant is a powerful database containing public records of most individuals, including their driver's licenses. <http://www.lexisnexis.com/risk/solutions/accurant.aspx> (last visited April 11, 2014).

41;239.] Appellant was located less than a half mile from Poole's condominium. [R. 241].

On the same day, another police officer contacted Appellant and took his statement. [R. 405]. When questioned, Appellant admitted the cell phone belonged to him but claimed that he was going to the store in a car, and that the cell phone must have fallen out somewhere because when he returned to the car it was missing. [R. 181, 405].³ Appellant also claimed that he had turned off the phone in December before talking to the police. [R. 182,405]. Appellant claimed this incident occurred on December 23, one day after the burglary. [R. 182.]

However, the cell phone was found at the scene of the burglary one day before Appellant claimed to have lost it, and Appellant did not turn his phone off until January 22, 2012. [R. 207] Detective Lester applied for and received a search warrant for the phone records from T-Mobile on November 5, 2012. [R. 399] .

Trial

During a pretrial suppression hearing, the trial court heard argument on the issue whether Appellant's Fourth Amendment expectation of privacy in his cell phone had been violated. [R. 9-50, 74-90]. Both parties fully litigated the issue, and the trial court ultimately concluded that, while Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in the cell phone based upon the password, he lost that right by **discarding** the phone at the scene of the burglary and making no efforts to retrieve the phone. [R, 89-90]. Appellant renewed his objections when later data obtained from the cell phone or cell phone records were introduced. [R. 124, 206, 226; 390].

³ Appellant's statement is difficult to read, so the above is based partially on his statements and partially on the testimony of the police officer taking his statements.

The State introduced testimony from Poole, Detective Lester, as well as the crime scene technician and a T-Mobile employee, who testified about the phone records. The State also presented Van Horn, a forensic analyst who testified about the phone records. At the conclusion of trial, Appellant chose not to testify, and did not put on a defense. He was convicted and sentenced to 18 years in prison. Afterwards, Appellant made a motion for a new trial in which he renewed the Fourth Amendment objections he had made at trial. [R. 390.]

ARGUMENT

The trial court properly declined to suppress evidence obtained from a warrantless search of Appellant's abandoned cell phone when a search warrant was not required because the Fourth Amendment does not apply to abandoned property found at the scene of the burglary; nevertheless, the information was obtained from an independent source pursuant to a lawful search warrant.

Appellant claims the trial court erred in refusing to suppress the warrantless search of his password-locked cell phone. Respondent submits that Appellant lost the expectation of privacy in his cell phone by discarding it in the house he burglarized, and, even if the search did violate the Fourth Amendment, evidence of Appellant's identity would not be excluded because the State obtained the same evidence through an independent warrant based off of the cell phone's serial number.

"In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law, and it is bound by the trial court's factual findings unless they are clearly erroneous." State v Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 87, 736 S.E.2d 263, 265 (2012). "The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion." Id. "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id. "When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm the trial court's ruling if there is any evidence to support it; the appellate court may reverse only for clear error." Id. at 82, 736 S.E.2d at 265-266.

I: Appellant lost whatever reasonable expectation of privacy he may have had in his phone by discarding it in the house he burglarized and making no effort to retrieve it.

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides:

The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no Warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the person or things to be seized.

U.S. Const. amend. IV. “The Fourth Amendment protects people, not places.” Katz v. U.S., 389 U.S. 347, 361 (1967)(Justice Harlan, concurring). The touchstone of the Fourth Amendment is “reasonableness” subjecting the warrant requirement to exceptions. Kentucky v. King, 131 S.Ct. 1849 (2011); Riley v. California, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S.Ct. 2475, 2483 (2014), citing Brigham City v. Stuart, 547 U.S. 398 (2006). Consistent with Katz, the Supreme Court has uniformly held that the application of the Fourth Amendment depends on whether the person invoking its protection can claim a reasonable expectation of privacy that has been invaded by government action. U.S. v. Knotts, 460 U.S. 276 (1983), citing Smith v. Maryland, 442 U.S. 735 (1979).

The reasonable expectation of privacy inquiry involves two discrete questions: First, whether the individual, by his conduct, has “exhibited an actual (subjective) expectation of privacy.” Knotts at 281 (citations omitted). Second, whether the individual’s expectation, viewed objectively, is one society is prepared to recognize as reasonable under the circumstances. Id. The United States Supreme Court has opined that when a search is conducted by law enforcement officers to discover evidence of criminal wrongdoing, “reasonableness generally requires the obtaining of a judicial warrant.” Id., citing Veronia School Dist. 47J v. Acton, 515 U.S. 646 (1995). What is

deemed reasonable depends upon the surrounding circumstances and the nature of the search and seizure. United States v. Montoya de Hernandez, 473 U.S. 531 (1985).

However, if a warrant is not obtained, a search will withstand constitutional scrutiny if it falls within one of several well recognized exceptions to the warrant requirement. See Kentucky v. King, 563 U.S. ___, 131 S.Ct. 1849 (2011); State v. Gamble, 405 S.C. 409, 747 S.E.2d 784 (2013); State v. Brown, 401 S.C. 82, 736 S.E.2d 263 (2012). The exceptions to the warrant requirement include: (1) search incident to lawful arrest; (2) hot pursuit; (3) stop and frisk; (4) automobile; (5) plain view; (6) consent; and (7) abandonment. State v. Brown, 401 S.C. at 89, 736 S.E.2d at 266; State v. Moore, 377 S.C. 299, 659 S.E.2d 256 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 462 S.E.2d 279 (Ct. App. 1995); Fernandez v. State, 306 S.C. 264, 411 S.E.2d 426 (1991).

A. Detective Lester's inspection of Appellant's phone did not violate the Fourth Amendment because Appellant had abandoned his phone, relinquishing all expectations of privacy.

Appellant contends the State did not argue that a warrantless exception applied to the search by Detective Lester of his cell phone. Brief of Appellant 6. Appellant also argues that “[b]y placing a password on his phone, Appellant maintained his expectation of privacy, even if it were lost, abandoned or stolen.” Brief of Appellant 7. Both of these arguments are incorrect: abandonment is an exception to the warrant requirement and was argued to and ruled upon by the trial court, and even if Appellant put a password on his cell phone, what matters is whether he maintained that expectation of privacy after discarding the phone. The record clearly shows that he did not.

The trial court paid significant attention to this issue, and over fifty pages of the record are devoted exclusively to the Fourth Amendment analysis. [R. 9-50, 74-90.] The

trial court determined that whether the phone was abandoned or lost was irrelevant. [R. 89-90.] Instead, the trial court held that the question was whether the reasonable expectation of privacy in the phone had been extinguished when Appellant discarded the phone. Id. Further, the trial court found that, while Appellant did have a reasonable expectation of privacy in the phone **before** the phone was discarded, he lost that expectation by discarding the phone, whatever his subjective intent. [R. 74; 89-90]

Our Supreme Court has long held that warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable unless an exception to the warrant requirement is present. State v. Dupree, 319 S.C. 454, 456, 462 S.E.2d 279, 281 (1995). The Court has specifically recognized several exceptions, including abandoned property, which has no protection from search and seizure under the Fourth Amendment. Id., 319 S.C. at 457. (citing California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35 (1988)).

Appellant's phone was left in a burglarized apartment by someone who had no right to be in that apartment. Appellant argued at trial that the intent to abandon the property is less clear here, and that, according to property law, the property had not been "abandoned," merely "lost." [R. 47-49]

In State v. Dupree, our Supreme Court rejected this formulation of the abandonment doctrine, instead holding that abandonment has two different meanings: one rooted in property law and another rooted in the Fourth Amendment. 319 S.C. at 457, 462 S.E.2d at 281 (citing California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35 (1988)). In property law, the question is whether the owner has voluntarily, intentionally and unconditionally relinquished his interest in the property, so that another, having acquired possession, may assert a superior interest. Id. But in a search and seizure context, the question is whether, in discarding the property, the person has relinquished their reasonable expectation of

privacy in the property so that its seizure and search is reasonable under the Fourth Amendment. Id. Our Supreme Court noted that the property is not necessarily abandoned but the defendant's reasonable expectation of privacy in the property is abandoned.

In Dupree, our Supreme Court held: "Where the presence of the police is lawful and the discard occurs in a public place where the defendant cannot have any continued expectancy of privacy in the discarded property, the property will be deemed abandoned for the purpose of search and seizure." Id. (quoting City of St. Paul v. Vaughn, 306 Minn. 337, 237 N.W.2d 365, 370-371 (1975)).

The only way this case varies from the Dupree test is that the phone was not found in a public place. If anything, this strengthens the argument that the property was abandoned: Appellant had no right to be in the victim's home in the first place. The police presence was lawful and Appellant's cell phone was discarded in another person's private residence. There is no indication on the record that Appellant knew the victim, or that Appellant had been a guest at the time. Instead, the cell phone was discarded by Appellant during the commission of the crime.

As the trial court found, this case squarely fits within the definition of abandonment of a reasonable expectation of privacy as provided by Dupree. [R. 89.]

Appellant also argues that searching personal containers requires a warrant. Brief of Appellant 7-8. Respondent acknowledges that Appellant's cell phone had a password of "1234." However, several courts have found that abandoned, locked containers do not retain a reasonable expectation of privacy. See, e.g., United States v. Busic, 592 F.2d 13, 22-23 (2d. Cir. 1978) (no reasonable expectation of privacy when defendant left her locked suitcase, an item in which citizens have a high expectation of privacy, in an airplane which she and her associates had illegally hijacked); United States v. Oswald,

783 F.2d 663, 666-667 (6th Cir. 1986), citing U.S. v. Tolbert, 692 F.2d 1041 (6th Cir. 1982) and Able v. U.S., 362 U.S. 217 (1960) (holding that police action in breaking into a locked suitcase full of cocaine found in a burning car did not violate defendant's Fourth Amendment rights because Appellant had abandoned the property.).

Nonetheless, Appellant argues that “[b]y placing a password on his phone, [Appellant] maintained his expectation of privacy, even if it were . . . abandoned.” Brief of Appellant 6-7 (citations omitted). This argument cannot be squared with what Appellant argued to the court below.

At the suppression hearing, Appellant’s counsel stated: “But what [the State] did was go into the contacts and get information on different people that were identified as family members. And we argue that is the information that is entitled to privacy. **Not the number of the phone; that would be minimally intrusive.**” R. 14 (emphasis added). Therefore, Appellant waived the issue of password protection, since he admitted that the State could retrieve his number from his cell phone.

To the extent this issue is not waived, the actions Appellant took before he discarded the phone are irrelevant under Dupree. What matters is what Appellant **did** to maintain his expectation of privacy after he discarded the phone, since these actions most clearly manifest whether he intended to maintain his reasonable expectation of privacy or not. See People v. Daggs, 133 Cal.App.4th 31 (Calif. 2005)(stating there is no reasonable expectation of privacy in cell phone where defendant left it unattended at the crime scene, fled, and made no effort to reclaim and that defendant’s testimony that he did not intend to abandon the phone is immaterial where the objective circumstances reveal he left the phone unattended); U.S. v. Duran, 884 F.Supp. 548 (D.D.C. 1995)(stating that defendant abandoned any reasonable expectation of privacy he may have had in personal

belongings kept at former workplace, permitting warrantless search of workplace where defendant was automatically discharged through failure to report to work); U. S. v. Rem, 984 F.2d 806 (7th Cir. 1993)(stating defendant's later claims of subjective intent are not dispositive; rather, the objective manifestations of intent must control and indicate defendant's abandonment of suitcase on train); U.S. v. Morris, 738 F.Supp. 20 (D.D.C. 1990)(stating defendant surrendered any reasonable expectation of privacy when he abandoned vials by stuffing into crevice between bus seats and left the seat); U.S. v. Brown, 473 F.2d 952 (5th Cir. 1973)(stating that leaving suitcase buried in chicken coop in open field was abandonment and officers were justified in opening without a warrant);

On December 22, 2011, Appellant left his cell phone in the victim's condominium – the scene of the crime. Appellant took no further action between the 22nd and the 27th to recover the phone.⁴ On December 28, Sgt. Thompson contacted Appellant and obtained a statement from Appellant about the phone. [R. 405] Appellant took no further action between December 28, 2011, and January 22, 2012. [R. 207]

Appellant's lack of action demonstrates he had no desire to maintain an expectation of privacy. Appellant could have, at any time, asked for his phone back. He could have reported the phone stolen to the police department. He could have deactivated the phone immediately after he discovered it was lost. Yet Appellant did none of these things.

⁴ For example, Appellant could have knocked on the victim's door and ask for his cell phone back. He also could have contacted police to report his lost cell phone. It is unclear whether Appellant called the phone to locate it during this time.

B. This Court need not address Appellant's expectation of privacy in his cell phone, as the trial court found that he had one, but had abandoned it.

Appellant expresses concern over the privacy issues at stake in a cell phone.

Brief of Appellant 9-11. Privacy expectations in a cell phone are not dispositive. The trial court found that Appellant had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his phone, but then abandoned that expectation by discarding the phone. [R. 89-90]. Moreover, the password proves nothing about whether Appellant attempted to secure his expectation of privacy in his cell phone. The password on the cell phone is one commonly known and used and was more likely in place through default. The common password fails to signify Appellant's intent to protect the information contained in the cell phone. See California v. Greenwood, 486 U.S. 35 (1988)(stating it is **common knowledge** that plastic garbage bags left on or at the site of a street are readily accessible to snoops, scavengers, and members of the public thereby defeating any claim to Fourth Amendment protection).

Further, Detective Lester did no more here than what a reasonably responsible citizen would do, presented with similar alternatives and resources. The actions Appellant claims were a search are nothing more than opening up a phone, guessing a common password, looking at phone's main screen, and then locating a number within the contact log to determine the identity of the owner. It is difficult to imagine how police would obtain information from an unidentified cell phone in a less intrusive way than what occurred here. Most phones do not have their numbers emblazoned across the startup screen. Some investigation was necessary to determine the identity of the owner.

C. The authority relied upon by Appellant is factually and legally distinguishable.

Respondent submits that the decisions relied upon by Appellant in advancing his argument to this Court are factually and legally distinguishable and provide no guidance on appeal. The decisions offered by Appellant all pertain to cell phones seized at arrest and not abandoned at the scene of the crime. The analysis and rationale for search incident to arrest simply does not apply here. To the extent Appellant may now rely on Riley v. California, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S.Ct. 2475, 2483 (2014), to support his argument the trial court erred in this case in finding an exception to the warrant requirement, Respondent submits the decision provides no guidance as it is also factually and legally distinguishable. Riley was determined based upon an analysis of the search incident to arrest exception and not abandonment. A different analysis applies here. The United States Supreme Court specifically recognized that “other case-specific exceptions may still justify a warrantless search of a particular phone.” Riley v. California, at 2493. The cell phone in this case was abandoned at the crime scene. Clearly no expectation of privacy exists that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable.

II. Even if this search were to be held illegal, Appellant’s identity and phone number should not be excluded because the State also introduced the T-Mobile phone records of Appellant’s phone, an independent source obtained under a lawful search warrant.

On November 5, 2012, Detective Lester obtained a search warrant for the T-Mobile phone records.⁵ In the warrant, Detective Lester swore “[t]hat the victim, Richard

⁵Appellant sought to preempt the State's warrant arguments by stating that the search warrant is invalid for purposes of searching Appellant's phone for the data. Brief of Appellant p. 10-11. The warrant is directed towards T-Mobile for the recovery of information relating to Appellant's account, including subscriber information, account comments, billing record, outbound and inbound calls, call origination, address of cell sites, and all stored communications, such as voicemail, email, texts, buddy lists, images

Poole, located a red in color Samsung T-Mobile (**Serial # RQ3Z182459W, Model #SGH-T239**, number (843)345-8868) cell phone on his bedroom floor that was left behind.” [R.399-403] (emphasis added). The serial number is unique to that specific phone. Even without the provided phone number, T-Mobile could have provided Appellant’s account information to Detective Lester, including his name and phone number based solely on the serial number. This information was provided to the State by T-Mobile, and the State introduced it at trial. [State's Exhibits 12-14; R. 206, 226.]

The “fruit of the poisonous tree” doctrine, cited by Appellant provides that evidence must be excluded if it would not have come to light but for the illegal actions of the police, and the evidence has been obtained by the exploitation of that illegality. State v. Copeland, 321 S.C. 318, 323, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). However, the challenged evidence is admissible if it was obtained from a lawful source independent of the illegal conduct. Id. On reply, Appellant might point out that we could not have obtained the evidence “but for” the initial, warrantless search. This would misstate the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine and the facts of this case. The independent source doctrine is an **exception** to the general fruits doctrine, not a separate, related concept. Murray v. United States, 487 U.S. 533, 542 n.3 (1988) (“one must ask whether [the warrant] would have been sought even if what actually happened....had not occurred.”). The cell phone’s serial number was obtained wholly independently of the warrantless search and would have been obtained regardless of the complained of search.

and call details. (State's Exhibit 1, Page 4). The warrant is valid for information obtained from T-Mobile.

Appellant's identity and phone number in this case were lawfully obtained from T-Mobile, an independent source. As Appellant conceded at trial, issuing a warrant for the records of this phone under these circumstances was proper. R. 16.

Additionally, the evidence inevitably would have been discovered through the request for a search warrant to search the information on the cell phone. State v. Jenkins, 398 S.C. 215, 727 S.E.2d 761 (Ct. App. 2012). Therefore, this Court should not apply the exclusionary rule, and the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION